



# Module 2 Managing Situations of Intolerance Between Residents: Training and Follow-Up









With the participation of :









Chaire de recherche sur la maltraitance envers les personnes aînées

#### Writing and review of the guide

Marie-Chantal Falardeau, Ph. D., Project coordinator, Université de Sherbrooke (Nov. 2019 – Oct. 2022)

Marie Beaulieu, Ph. D., Researcher in charge of the project, Professor, Chairholder of the Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults (2010-2022), Research associate to the Chair since November 2022, Université de Sherbrooke

Annabelle Maheu, B. Comm., Université de Sherbrooke (May 2022 – Dec. 2022)

Roxane Leboeuf, M.S.S., Project coordinator, Université de Sherbrooke (since Oct. 2022)

#### **Project Steering Committee**

#### Research team

Marie Beaulieu, Ph. D., Researcher in charge of the project, Professor, Chairholder of the Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults (2010-2022), Research associate to the Chair since November 2022, Université de Sherbrooke

Hélène Carbonneau, Ph. D., Co-researcher, Professor, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières

Mélanie Levasseur, Ph. D., Co-researcher, Professor, Université de Sherbrooke

Marie-Chantal Falardeau, Ph. D., Project coordinator, Université de Sherbrooke (Nov. 2019 – Oct. 2022)

Roxane Leboeuf, M.S.S., Project coordinator, Université de Sherbrooke (since Oct. 2022)

Anabelle Rondeau-Leclaire, M.S.S., Project co-coordinator, Université de Sherbrooke (Jan. – April 2023)

#### **Chartwell Retirement Residences (in alphabetical order)**

Chantal Beaulieu, General Manager, Villa de l'Estrie

Lucie Brosseau, General Manager, Seigneuries du Carrefour (Nov. 2019 - March 2022)

Annie Duchesne, Regional Manager, Health Care (Sept. 2020 – August 2022)

Jean-Philippe Grossi, Acting General Manager, Seigneuries du Carrefour (Sept. – Dec. 2020)

Martyne Lessard, General Manager, Résidence Principale Cowansville (Nov. 2019 – April 2020), and Villa Rive-Sud (since March 2022)

Anne Marcil, General Manager, Le St-Gabriel (Sept. – Nov. 2020)

Nathalie Pinsonneault, General Manager, Le St-Gabriel (since Nov. 2020)

Michel Tardif, Regional Manager, Operations

Hélène Tôth, Regional Manager, Health Care (Nov. 2019 – August 2020)

#### **Jasmin Roy Sophie Desmarais Foundation**

Jasmin Roy, President of the Jasmin Roy Sophie Desmarais Foundation

#### **Project Working Committee (in alphabetical order)**

Rita Boudreau, Resident, Chartwell Retirement Residence Villa de l'Estrie

Daisy Biron, Resident, Chartwell Retirement Residence Seigneuries du Carrefour

Valérie de Haas, Lifestyle and Program Manager, Chartwell Retirement Residence Seigneuries du Carrefour (Dec. 2020 – Sept. 2022)

Caroline Grégoire, Lifestyle and Program Manager, Chartwell Retirement Residence Villa de l'Estrie (Dec. 2020 – Feb. 2022)

Nathalie Lalancette, Leasing Consultant, Chartwell Retirement Residence Le St-Gabriel

Marguerite Loiselle, Resident, Chartwell Retirement Residence Le St-Gabriel

#### **Project Advisory Committee (in alphabetical order of organization)**

Centre collégial d'expertise en gérontologie, Cégep de Drummondville

Chartwell Retirement Residence Le St-Gabriel (an employee and a resident)

Chartwell Retirement Residence Seigneuries du Carrefour (an employee and a resident)

Chartwell Retirement Residence Villa de l'Estrie (an employee and a resident)

**DIRA-Estrie** 

Équijustice Estrie

Laboratoire d'innovations par et pour les aînés (LIPPA), Université de Sherbrooke

Local service quality and complaints commissioner, CIUSSS de l'Estrie - CHUS

Police Department of Sherbrooke

Regional coordinator specializing in countering mistreatment of older adults of Estrie (Nov. 2019 – March 2021)

Regional coordinator specializing in countering mistreatment of older adults of Montérégie (since June 2021)

Estrie's regional concertation table of seniors

Université de Sherbrooke, Doctoral student in gerontology

#### Student collaboration

Roxanne Belley, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières (Sept. 2020 – Sept. 2021)

Justine Hétu, Université de Sherbrooke (October – December 2021)

Sabrina Petit, Université de Sherbrooke (May – Sept. 2021)

Laurie Poisson, Université de Sherbrooke (January – May 2021)

#### Collaboration with the Fédération québécoise du loisir en institution

Anne-Louis Hallé, General Manger (since April 2022)

#### **Translation**

Jasmin Roy Sophie Desmarais Foundation

Jessie Berthiaume, B.A., Université de Sherbrooke, Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults

#### **Graphic design**

Annabelle Maheu, B. Comm., Université de Sherbrooke (May – Dec. 2022)

Anna Carraro, B. Comm., Université de Sherbrooke (since Feb. 2023)

#### **Funding**

This project (890-2018-0057) is funded in part by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (2019-2022), the non-profit national research Mitacs and the Jasmin Roy Sophie Desmarais Foundation.

#### To cite this document

Beaulieu, M., Falardeau, M-C., Carbonneau, H., & Levasseur, M. (2023). *Managing situations of intolerance between residents: Training and follow-up.* Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults, Groupe interdisciplinaire de recherche sur l'expérience inclusive de loisir (GIREIL) and Chartwell Retirement Residences.

By downloading this document and the tools it includes, you agree not to modify its content. If you wish to adapt it in any way, please contact the Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults (<a href="mailto:info@maltraitancedesaines.com">info@maltraitancedesaines.com</a>) to work out an arrangement before proceeding. We will demand to see the final product before allowing its use.

#### **Table of contents**

Managing Situations of Intolerance Between Residents	5
Brief reminder of the program	5
Module objectives	5
Staff Training to Deal with Situations of Intolerance	6
Training videos	6
Lists of training courses for staff members	7
Suggestions for the training's sustainability	8
Process for Managing and Monitoring Situations of Intolerance	8
Roles of staff and managers	8
Step 1: Receive a testimony	9
Step 2: Manage the situation	10
Step 3: Finalize a follow-up of a situation of intolerance	11
Suggestions for sustainability of the management process	11
Resources and Services Lists	11
Suggestions for creating a resource list for residents	12
Bibliography	13

#### MANAGING SITUATIONS OF INTOLERANCE BETWEEN RESIDENTS

Module 2 aims to train staff members to manage situations of intolerance between residents and to clarify the management and follow-up of these situations. Since certain situations of intolerance between residents constitute mistreatment within the meaning of the *Governmental Action Plan to Counter Mistreatment of Older Adults* (2022-2027) and must be reported in some instances under the *Act to Combat Maltreatment of Seniors and Other Persons of Full Age in Vulnerable Situations*, this module is intended to be a complementary tool to existing measures to counter mistreatment of older adults. It contains links to short training videos, a list of existing training courses for staff, a process for managing situations of intolerance between residents, and lists of resources and services to help countering mistreatment, bullying or other types of intolerance<sup>1</sup>.

#### **BRIEF REMINDER OF THE PROGRAM**

The Program GIFT in residence aims to provide tools and activities to promote goodwill in the living environment and to counter intolerance between residents. The uniqueness of this program is the result of research based on the experience of residents who have witnessed or experienced intolerance between residents, as well as on the experience of staff members and external intervenors who have witnessed or intervened with one or more people involved in a situation of intolerance between residents in private seniors' residences (PSR) or in this type of situation in general. It suggests guidelines and structures that can be used in whole or in part depending on the needs of the residence.

#### **MODULE OBJECTIVES**

This second module, on managing situations of intolerance between residents, aims to:

- Equip staff members with **training** on topics related to goodwill and intolerance between residents or underlying issues;
- Establish a clear vision of the management and follow-up of situations of intolerance between residents as well as the roles of each person in the resolution of these situations;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Managers and staff members working in PSR are invited to refer to the *Governmental Action Plan to Counter Mistreatment of Older Adults* (<a href="https://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/fichiers/2022/22-830-44W.pdf">https://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/fichiers/2022/22-830-44W.pdf</a>) (In French only), the *Act to Combat Maltreatment of Seniors and Other Persons of Full Age in Vulnerable Situations* (<a href="https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/document/cs/l-6.3">https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/document/cs/l-6.3</a>), as well as the policy against mistreatment of older adults in effect within the Integrated Health and Social Services Centre in their territory, to learn more about their duties and obligations in countering mistreatment of older adults.

3

**Informing** staff members about resources and services related to mistreatment, bullying or other types of intolerance towards and between residents.

#### STAFF TRAINING TO DEAL WITH SITUATIONS OF INTOLERANCE

#### **TRAINING VIDEOS**

Five short training videos have been created for staff members. They are designed to develop knowledge and skills about goodwill, intolerance between residents, mistreatment and bullying, and cognitive loss. It is recommended that staff members watch the videos in the order presented below, and that they be replayed occasionally (e.g., once a year), to maintain the knowledge and skills acquired over time.

\*Click on each title to access the video.



1. What is the Program GIFT in Residence



2. What is Goodwill and Intolerance Between Residents?



3. <u>How to Intervene in the Presence of Intolerance Between</u> Residents?



4. How to Differentiate Mistreatment from Bullying?



5. How to Interact with Residents with Early Cognitive Loss?



Have staff members watch the videos as soon as they are hired.



Play the videos for residents if you want them to understand the program and interventions.



Inform residents' families and friends of your ongoing efforts to improve the wellbeing of residents by sending them one or more videos.

### What is intolerance ?

Intolerance between residents refers to all types of relationships that have negative effect on each other: conflicts, arguments, pushing and shoving, rejection, humiliation, or intentional ignorance.

These situations occur mostly in **public places** such as the dining room, common lounges, recreation areas or circulation areas.

Intolerance causes **several consequences** for the people involved: psychological consequences (insecurity, anxiety, frustration, suicidal thoughts), physical consequences (sleep disorders, taking medication) or social consequences (social isolation, changes in behavior).

#### LISTS OF TRAINING COURSES FOR STAFF MEMBERS

These training lists<sup>2</sup> aim to offer staff members a variety of training sessions and have various themes, including goodwill and intolerance between residents. Three lists have been developed, two proposing a selection of training available in the Montérégie and Estrie regions (where the program was developed). The third incorporates a selection of training available everywhere in Quebec. The training lists aim to improve the knowledge and skills of staff members in order to equip them to promote goodwill and to counter intolerance between residents (click on the image to access the list).



#### **Estrie**



#### Montérégie



#### **Province of Quebec**



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The lists include proposals for existing training and can be enhanced by each organization.

#### **DOCUMENTS TO BE FILLED OUT**



A <u>Training Appreciation Form</u> to assess the level of relevance and appreciation of the training. It is recommended that it be completed after each training offered to staff members.

#### SUGGESTIONS FOR THE TRAINING'S SUSTAINABILITY

- Survey staff members about their training interests and take into consideration the feedback from the Training Appreciation Form completed by staff members;
- 2 Establish an annual training schedule for staff members.

#### PROCESS FOR MANAGING AND MONITORING SITUATIONS OF INTOLERANCE

The process for managing and following up on situations of intolerance between residents proposes three steps to clarify how to manage a situation of intolerance and ensure systematic follow-up. It should be noted that if the situation of intolerance constitutes a situation of mistreatment covered by the obligation to report under the *Act to Combat Maltreatment*, the process for managing the situation to be followed is the one proposed in the *Policy to Combat Maltreatment* in place in the Integrated Health and Social Services Centre of the territory where the residence is located.



Managers are advised to become familiar with the various steps in managing and following up on situations of intolerance between residents, as well as the relevant documents related to them. If necessary, staff members can be included in the implementation of the process in the living environment.

#### **ROLES OF STAFF AND MANAGERS**

Several entities can play an active role in managing and monitoring situations of intolerance between residents, such as **staff members and managers**. Managers may also designate one or more individuals within the organization to manage and monitor intolerance between residents actively.

The **consent** of the person testifying is required before taking steps to manage a situation of intolerance between residents. In order to respect and protect the person testifying, their identity must remain **confidential** unless they allow otherwise.

#### Roles of staff members when witnessing a situation

- Refer to the <u>Memory Aid</u> for staff members on actions to take when they observe intolerance between residents or a resident confides in them, and take appropriate action;
- 2. Complete the <u>Documentation Form of a Situation of Intolerance Between</u>
  Residents.



Make the Memory Aid visible in areas of the residence frequented by staff (break room or meeting room, etc.). Give a copy of the document to new employees.

#### Roles of the residence manager

- **1.** Ensure **the management and follow-up of situations of intolerance** between residents, especially when they require the implementation of measures or when they constitute mistreatment within the meaning of the *Action Plan* and the *Act to Combat Maltreatment*;
- 2. Use the <u>Decisional Diagram for the Management and Follow-up of Situations of Intolerance</u>

  <u>Between Residents</u> for the residence's general manager to determine appropriate actions;
- **3.** Follow the steps for the management and follow-up of situations of intolerance between residents (refer to the section: **Process for Managing and Monitoring Situations of Intolerance**).

#### **STEP 1: RECEIVE A TESTIMONY**

- Meet with the person who wishes to testify about a situation of intolerance in a confidential setting while emphasizing empathetic listening.
- Understand the person's needs by determining if they wish to confide in you about the situation or if they wish to initiate interventions.
  - With the <u>Documentation Form of a Situation of Intolerance Between Residents</u> in hand, you can either:
- Proceed to Step 2, which is to consult the <u>Decisional Diagram for the Management and</u>
   Follow-up of <u>Situations of Intolerance Between Residents</u> for the residence's general manager and discuss it with the person testifying;

2. Thank the person for their statement and advise them that they will be contacted to discuss the next steps as needed.

#### **DOCUMENT(S) TO BE FILLED OUT**





All interventions must also be registered in the <u>Documentation Form</u> <u>of a Situation of Intolerance Between Residents</u> to ensure proper follow-up.

Create a binder where the Documentation Forms of a Situation of Intolerance Between Residents can be stored.

#### **STEP 2: MANAGE THE SITUATION**

- Determine appropriate interventions based on the needs of the person who has testified. To do this, refer to the <u>Decisional Diagram for the Management and Follow-up of Situations of Intolerance Between Residents</u> for the residence's general manager for pathways to support a person who is the target of intolerance from other residents or who is a witness.
- It is important to inform the person who shared the situation of the follow-up steps.
- If it is the targeted person, options should be provided based on their needs and the <u>Decisional</u> <u>Diagram for the Management and Follow-up of Situations of Intolerance Between Residents</u> for the residence's general manager.
- If it is a witness, contact should be initiated to explain what actions will be taken with those involved in the situation and that the confidentiality of the parties is assured.

#### **DOCUMENT(S) TO BE FILLED OUT**



interventions may be

similar.



Complete the <u>Decisional Diagram for the Management and Follow-up of</u>
<u>Situations of Intolerance Between Residents</u> to help manage the situation appropriately and relevantly.

#### STEP 3: FINALIZE A FOLLOW-UP OF A SITUATION OF INTOLERANCE

- Follow up with the target and the instigator to ensure that they are satisfied with the management of the situation and determine their feeling.
- Contact the witness of the situation of intolerance (if applicable) to explain that follow-up has been taken and the situation has been managed.

## Respect everyone's confidentiality throughout the management and follow-up process.

#### **DOCUMENT(S) TO BE FILLED OUT**



Refer to the <u>Checklist Before Concluding a Follow-up Regarding a Situation of Intolerance</u>

<u>Between Residents</u> to confirm that the elements of the process have been completed.

#### SUGGESTIONS FOR SUSTAINABILITY OF THE MANAGEMENT PROCESS

- After it has been managed, gather feedback from those involved in a situation to improve the follow-up;
- Note any specifics within the process uniquely apply to the living environment;
- Involve staff members or assign this responsibility to a specific person acknowledge this task.

#### **RESOURCES AND SERVICES LISTS**

The lists<sup>3</sup> bring together, in one place, the **resources and services available in relation to mistreatment, bullying or other manifestations of intolerance**. Three lists have been developed, two proposing a selection of resources and services available in the Montérégie and Estrie regions (where the program was developed) and a third, proposing a selection of resources and services available throughout Quebec. The lists of available resources and services are intended to improve staff members' knowledge



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The lists include suggestions for existing resources and services and can be enhanced by each organization. It is forbidden to modify this document without authorization (info@maltraitancedesaines.com)

©Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults (2023)

to refer residents experiencing specific problems related to intolerance between residents (click on the image to access the list).

#### **Estrie**

#### Montérégie

#### **Province of Quebec**







#### **SUGGESTIONS FOR CREATING A RESOURCE LIST FOR RESIDENTS**

#### IT IS RECOMMENDED THAT YOU CREATE A LIST OF RESOURCES AND SERVICES FOR RESIDENTS:

- Select a few resources included in one of the above lists and add resources from within the residence (e.g., a staff person, resident, etc.);
- Give a copy of the list to each resident and each new resident;
- Publish the list in the residence newsletter or post it in the areas residents frequent.



#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Andresen, F. J., & Buchanan, J. A. (2017). Bullying in senior living facilities: Perspectives of long-term care staff. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 43(7), 34-41. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20170126-01">https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20170126-01</a>
- Beaulieu, M., Bédard, M-È., & Leboeuf, R. (2016). L'intimidation envers les personnes aînées: un problème social connexe à la maltraitance? *Service social*, 62(1), 38-56. https://doi.org/10.7202/1036334ar
- Beaulieu, M., Carbonneau, H., Levasseur, M., & Falardeau, M-C. (2021). Promoting goodwill and countering intolerance among residents in independent living facilities. Needs study with a view to developing a program. Research review report. Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults and Chartwell Retirement Residences. 36 p. <a href="https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Beaulieu-et-al.-2021-Rapport\_obj1\_e%CC%81tude\_besoins\_EN.pdf">https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Beaulieu-et-al.-2021-Rapport\_obj1\_e%CC%81tude\_besoins\_EN.pdf</a>
- Beaulieu, M. & Leboeuf, R. in collaboration with Chartwell Retirement Residences. (2019). Synthesis Research Report. To improve the quality of community living in private residences: Establish the needs to counter resident-to-resident mistreatment and promote the concept of 'living well together'. Research Chair on Mistreatment of Older Adults and Chartwell Retirement Residences. Sherbrooke, Québec. 24 p. <a href="https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2019 Rapport-Synthese ANG V4.pdf">https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2019 Rapport-Synthese ANG V4.pdf</a>
- Beaulieu, M., Pelletier, C. & Dubuc, M.-P. (2018). Maximising awareness-raising activities to increase understanding of the mistreatment and bullying experienced by older adults: DAMIA practice guide. For administrators and coordinators. Québec. 78 p. <a href="https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/2019">https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/2019</a> DAMIA Guide admin ANG.pdf
- Bonifas, R. P. (2016). *Bullying among older adults. How to recognize and address an unseen epidemic.*Maryland, USA: HHP Health Professions Press.

  https://www.healthpropress.com/product/bullying-among-older-adults-copy
- Chaire de recherche sur la maltraitance envers les personnes aînées. (2020). *Liste des ressources provinciales*. <a href="https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/RessourcesProvinciales">https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/RessourcesProvinciales</a> Mars2020.pdf
- DeBois K.A., Evans S.D., & Chatfield S. L. (2020). Resident-to-resident aggression in longterm care: analysis of structured and unstructured data from the National Violent Death Reporting System, 2003-2016.

  Journal of Applied Gerontology, 39(10), 1069-1077. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0733464819863926
- Gouvernement du Québec. (2017). Governmental action plan to counter mistreatment of older adults 2017-2022. Québec : Ministère de la Famille-Secrétariat aux aînés. <a href="https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/PAM2">https://maltraitancedesaines.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/PAM2</a> ANG.pdf
- Gouvernement du Québec. (2021). Concerted action plan to prevent and counter bullying and cyberbullying 2020-2025. Québec : Ministère de la Famille-Secrétariat aux aînés. https://www.mfa.gouv.qc.ca/fr/publication/Documents/action-plan-bullying-2020-2025.pdf
- Gouvernement du Québec. (2022). *Education Act (RLRQ, chapiter l 13.3)*. <a href="https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/document/cs/i-13.3">https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/document/cs/i-13.3</a>

- Gouvernement du Québec. (2022). Act to Combat Maltreatment of Seniors and Other Persons of Full Age in Vulnerable Situations (RLRQ, chapiter I-6.3). https://www.legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/document/cs/I-6.3
- Gouvernement du Québec. (2022). Plan d'action gouvernemental pour contrer la maltraitance envers les personnes aînées 2022-2027 : Reconnaître et agir ensemble. Québec : Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux et Secrétariat aux aînés. https://publications.msss.gouv.qc.ca/msss/fichiers/2022/22-830-44W.pdf
- Lakaye, A. (2009). Maintenir la relation avec une personne atteinte de maladie d'Alzheimer, un défi pour les familles et le personnel soignant. Dans Jean-Émile Vanderheyden et Bernard Kennes (Éds.), La prise en charge des démences: Approche transdisciplinaire du patient et de sa famille. Alzheimer, Parkinson et autres démences (pp. 237-248). Louvain-la-Neuve: De Boeck Supérieur. <a href="https://doiorg.ezproxy.usherbrooke.ca/10.3917/dbu.vande.2009.01.0237">https://doiorg.ezproxy.usherbrooke.ca/10.3917/dbu.vande.2009.01.0237</a>
- Madsen, K., Franses, L., Ayenew, E., & Behnke, K. (2020). Seniors Anti-Bullying Toolkit. 1st Edition. <a href="https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_">https://source.sheridancollege.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=centres\_elder\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_anti-bullying\_toolkit\_global\_senio\_rs\_a
- McDonald, L., Hitzig, S. L., Pillemer, K. A., Lachs, M. S., Beaulieu, M., Brownell, P., ...Thomas, C. (2015a). Developing a research agenda on resident-to-resident aggression: recommendations from a consensus conference. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 27(2), 146-167. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2014.995869">https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2014.995869</a>
- McDonald, L., Sheppard, C., Hitzig, S. L., Spalter, T., Mathur, A., & Mukhi, J. S. (2015b). Resident-to-resident abuse: A scoping review. *Canadian Journal on Aging, 34*(2), 215-236. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0714980815000094
- Réseau FADOQ Région des Laurentides. (2018). Initiation à l'accompagnement des acteurs d'intimidation. Microprogramme 2 : L'écoute bienveillante et l'accompagnement de l'aîné intimidé et de ses proches. <a href="https://www.fadoq.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/micro-2-lcoute-bienveillante-et-lan-initmid.pdf">https://www.fadoq.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/micro-2-lcoute-bienveillante-et-lan-initmid.pdf</a>
- Réseau FADOQ Région des Laurentides. (2017). Relevons le défi! Ensemble, créons un milieu bienveillant pour contrer l'intimidation entre aînés. <a href="https://tcral.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/politique-pour-contrer-lintimidation-entre-les-ain%C3%A9s-FADOQL.pdf">https://tcral.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/politique-pour-contrer-lintimidation-entre-les-ain%C3%A9s-FADOQL.pdf</a>
- Rosen, T., Lachs, M. S., Bharucha, A. J., Stevens, S. M., Teresi, J. A. Nebres, F., & Pillemer, K. (2008). Resident-to-Resident Aggression in Long-Term Care Facilities: Insights from Focus Groups of Nursing Home Residents and Staff. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 56(8), 1398-1408. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1532-5415.2008.01808.x">https://dx.doi.org/10.1111%2Fj.1532-5415.2008.01808.x</a>
- Rosen, T., Lachs, M. S., Teresi, J., Eimicke, J., Van Haitsma, K., & Pillemer, K. (2016). Staff-reported strategies for prevention and management of resident-to-resident elder mistreatment in long-term care facilities. *Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect, 28*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2015.1029659
- Smith, D., Bugeja, L., Cunningham, N., & Ibrahim, J. E. (2018). A systematic review of sexual assaults in nursing homes. *Gerontologist*, *58*(6), e369-e383. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx022">http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx022</a>

- Société Alzheimer du Canada. (2016). *Stade léger.* https://alzheimer.ca/sites/default/files/documents/evolution\_stade-leger.pdf
- Société Alzheimer du Canada. (2021). Communicating with people living with dementia. <a href="https://alzheimer.ca/en/help-support/i-have-friend-or-family-member-who-lives-dementia/communicating-people-living-dementia">https://alzheimer.ca/en/help-support/i-have-friend-or-family-member-who-lives-dementia/communicating-people-living-dementia</a>
- Société Alzheimer du Canada. (2021). What is Alzheimer's disease? https://alzheimer.ca/en/about-dementia/what-alzheimers-disease
- Teresi, J. A., Ramirez, M., Ellis, J., Silver, S., Boratgis, G., Kong, J., & Lachs, M.S. (2013). A staff intervention targeting resident-to-resident elder mistreatment (R-REM) in long-term care increased staff knowledge, recognition and reporting: Results from a cluster randomized trial. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 50(5), 644-656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.10.010
- Teva Canada. (2021). Quels sont les signes et symptômes de la maladie d'Alzheimer? https://www.tevacanada.com/globalassets/canada-scs-files--global/fr/alzheimersmodule3 patient fr signssymptoms.pdf
- Trompetter, H., Scholte, R., & Westerhof, G. (2011). Resident-to-resident relational aggression and subjective well-being in assisted living facilities. *Aging and Mental Health*, *15*(1), 59–67. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2010.501059">https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2010.501059</a>
- Wiegand, B. (2019). Like Mean Girls, but Everyone Is Eighty: A Solution for Elder Bullying. *The Elder Law Journal*, *27*, 379-421.